STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

ORIGINAL

Appeal from Anderson County

RECEIVED

Honorable Alexander S. Macaulay, Circuit Court Judge

MAR 06 2019

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

COLE BROOKS GRAY,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2017-002265

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JOANNA K. DELANY
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1.

Whether the court erred where it allowed the solicitor a reply closing argument since appellant, the defendant, did not present evidence?

2.

Whether the court erred in refusing to declare a mistrial after it improperly allowed the state to have last closing argument?

3.

Whether the court erred when it admitted a recording of a jail phone call made by appellant where the phone call contained profanity, racial slurs, hearsay, and portrayed appellant as an habitual criminal, since the call's minimal probative value was substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice under Rule 403, SCRE?

4.

Whether the court erred when it allowed Lieutenant Gebing to testify that appellant had previously been arrested, since this was inadmissible bad character evidence?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On May 23, 2017, an Anderson County Grand Jury indicted appellant for trafficking in methamphetamine, more than one hundred grams. R. 385 – 386. On August 22, 2017, an Anderson County Grand Jury indicted appellant for receiving stolen goods and failure to stop for a blue light, second or subsequent offense. R. 387 – 390.

Appellant was tried before the Honorable Alexander Macaulay and a jury, October 16 – 18, 2017. R. 1; R. 131; R. 287. R. Joseph Opperman represented appellant; David Wagner and Mary Holahan represented the state. R. 1. Petitioner was convicted of trafficking in methamphetamine more than one hundred grams, receiving stolen goods, and failure to stop for a blue light, second or subsequent offense. R. 360, ll. 3-18.

The court sentenced appellant to a mandatory term of imprisonment for twenty-five years for trafficking, five years for failure to stop for a blue light, and three years for receiving stolen goods, with sentences to be served concurrently. R. 391 – 393.

This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Appellant had a “very serious addiction problem.” R. 376, l. 23. He told the court: “[T]hose actions that I took, I’m truly sorry for. And I know that it’s a little bit late, but I’d like to apologize to you and everyone here today.” R. 379, ll. 20-23. Appellant said he was ashamed of what he did while “under the influence of methamphetamines,” and “the burden that [he] put on law enforcement.” R. 378, l. 20 – 379, l. 1; R. 377, ll. 11-14.

On November 12, 2016, a police officer with the Anderson County Sheriff’s traffic unit saw appellant “disregard [a] stop sign” and go into the wrong lane. R. 100, l. 20 – 101, l. 4; R. 102, ll. 20-23. He attempted to pull appellant over, but appellant kept driving. R. 103, ll. 2-5. What should have been a routine traffic stop turned into a lengthy police chase involving multiple officers that ended when appellant’s tires were flattened and he threw a bag of methamphetamine out the window. R. 383 – 384; State’s exhibits #1 and #2. Appellant then put up his hands and was arrested without further incident. R. 184, l. 19 – 185, l. 7.

The entire event was captured on the dashboard cameras of two police officers, and the videos were admitted in evidence. The videos are state’s exhibits #1 and #2 and are on file with this Court. Three police officers testified at trial about the details of the chase. R. ll. 20-21; R. 150, ll. 22-23; R. 176, l. 15.

The solicitor told the trial court its intent “to offer into evidence a taped phone call from the Anderson County jail made by the defendant.” R. 206, ll. 15-17. The recording is state’s exhibit #4 and is on file with this Court. The phone call lasted over fifteen minutes and contained few statements that were relevant to the case, namely: 1) “I was just trying to get rid of that shit you know,” and 2) “They say they found one hundred twenty grams. That’s what they charged me with, trafficking one hundred to two hundred grams. That ain’t good.” State’s exhibit #4.

The majority of the call is filled with profanity, racial epithets, and other offensive language: "fuck," "shit," "nigger," "queers." State's exhibit #4 (jail phone call recording). Appellant is heard recounting a fight with another inmate at the jail in which he had "bitten someone's face" leaving that person needing stitches in the face. State's exhibit #4. Appellant is also heard saying: "I need a fucking lawyer," and expressing familiarity with the jail's visitation policies and other inmates housed in the jail. State's exhibit #4. Appellant said that he was found to be in possession of another person's "food stamp card," and a police officer said: "Look at this piece of shit, he's got four hundred dollars and drugs and someone else's food stamp card." State's exhibit #4.

Defense counsel objected to the introduction of the recording in its unredacted form, arguing it violated Rule 403, SCRE. R. 216, ll. 14-17; R. 220, ll. 7-21. The defense moved that the state "pare down" the recording to the portions of the call the state believed were relevant to the elements of the charges. R. 216, ll. 20-24. "Those portions of the phone call which do go to the elements of the offense and do not violate the rule against hearsay, I have no reasonable objection against those portions. And if the State would like to identify those portions, I don't think I would have a reasonable objection to those." R. 217, ll. 13-18.

However, to play the phone call in its entirety in the environment of which my client is in jail speaking to someone, profane language is being used, discussion of hiring an attorney, suggesting that a crime has been committed, all of those things that don't go to the elements of the offense would be more prejudicial than probative.

R. 217, ll. 19-25 (emphasis added).

Defense counsel objected to the portions of the recording that contained hearsay being entered into evidence. R. 216, ll. 14-17. Defense counsel argued the statements: "They say they found one-hundred twenty grams," and "Look at this piece of shit, he's got four hundred dollars and drugs and someone else's food stamp card" were hearsay because appellant was merely

repeating what someone else said. R. 210, ll. 8-19; R. 214, ll. 13-18. The trial court said it did not find the statements to be hearsay “because he made the statement, even though he was quoting somebody else that what he adopted it and then presented it.” R. 212, ll. 10-13; R. 249, ll. 1-4. However, this was not an adopted admission.¹

The court allowed the entire, unredacted recording of the fifteen-minute phone call into evidence, overruling defense counsel’s objection. R. 220, l. 22 – 221, l. 2; R. 251, ll. 18-22.

The state entered the recording through Lieutenant Gebing, who said he regularly accessed the jail telephone recording database. R. 245, ll. 3-13. The solicitor asked a question of Gebing that elicited testimony of prior bad acts by appellant.

Q. Okay. The call that you pulled on the defendant, was it made two days after this incident?

A. It was made November 14th. Yes, sir.

Q. On the 14th on November of 2016?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. The first call being made from the jail?

A. Not the first one from the jail. **The first one during that particular arrest, sir.**

R. 247, ll. 3-10 (emphasis added). Defense counsel immediately objected. R. 247, ll. 14-15. Defense counsel argued: “That answer introduced character evidence not permitted by the South Carolina Rules of Evidence into the record before the jury,” R. 248, ll. 8-10.

The court found the statement admissible, saying it was cumulative: “Well in as much as the Court has ruled that the telephone call would come in, I think in that telephone call he refers

¹ A party who has agreed with or concurred in an oral statement of another has adopted it. *State v. Knoten*, 347 S.C. 296, 312–13, 555 S.E.2d 391, 400 (2001).

to other incidents of his own incarceration . . .” R. 249, ll. 7-10. However, this statement was not cumulative—defense counsel had objected to the jail telephone call’s admission. Defense counsel moved for a mistrial based on Gebing’s statement, but the court said: “I deny your mistrial.” R. 248, ll. 2-3; R. 250, ll. 5-6.

The defense did not put up a case. R. 265, ll. 3-7. The court told the jury: “The State will open on the law and the evidence, and then the defense will argue, and then the State will close.” R. 293, ll. 17-19. The state gave its closing argument, and then the defense. Defense counsel asked the jury to convict appellant of a lesser-included offense, because there was no evidence appellant sold the drugs, delivered the drugs, or took them over the state line. R. 320, ll. 2-17.

After the defense finished its closing argument, the court allowed the solicitor to reply, giving the state final closing argument. R. 328, ll. 11-12. Defense counsel immediately objected and asked to approach the bench. R. 328, ll. 15-17. A bench conference was held, and it was later put on the record that defense counsel objected at the bench conference to the state being given the opportunity to respond, since the defense did not put up any evidence. R. 328, ll. 18-19. “Your Honor, we wish to object on the record that the State was given an opportunity to respond after the defense made its closing argument. It’s our position that since the defense did not put up a case, the defense should have the right to close out with its arguments” R. 356, ll. 8-13.

The judge allowed the state to continue its reply argument. R. 328, ll. 18-20. In his reply, the solicitor argued: “we didn’t say anything about him selling it . . . He knowingly possessed over 100 grams of methamphetamine. That’s under the trafficking statute and that’s why we’re — we’re here.” R. 329, ll. 4-8.

Defense counsel moved for a mistrial due to the state being given final closing argument: “We do believe this may have caused some prejudice and at this time we request a mistrial.” R.

356, ll. 13-15. The court responded that under its reading of *State v. Beaty*,² the defendant is always “the party with the middle argument,” and denied counsel’s motion for a mistrial. R. 356, l. 16 – 358, l. 11; R. 358, ll. 20-21.

² *State v. Beaty*, 423 S.C. 26, 813 S.E.2d 502 (2018).

ARGUMENT

1.

The court erred where it allowed the solicitor a reply closing argument since appellant, the defendant, did not present evidence.

Standard of review

Appellant submits de novo review should be undertaken. The appellate courts of South Carolina review questions of law de novo. *State v. Adams*, 409 S.C. 641, 647, 763 S.E.2d 341, 344 (2014). “We clarify that appellate courts review questions of law de novo, with no deference to trial courts.” *Smalls v. State*, 422 S.C. 174, 181, 810 S.E.2d 836, 840 (2018). *Contra State v. Mouzon*, 326 S.C. 199, 485 S.E.2d 918 (1997). In *Mouzon*, the Court found the trial judge’s error in denying the defendant, who presented no evidence, the right to final closing argument was not a structural error and was subject to harmless error analysis. *Id.* at 204, 485 S.E.2d at 921. Because *Mouzon* was decided before the South Carolina Supreme Court clarified that questions of law are reviewed de novo, appellant submits this purely legal error should be subject to de novo review.

Discussion

The right to last closing “argument to the jury is a substantial right, the denial of which is reversible error.” *State v. Rodgers*, 269 S.C. 22, 24-25, 235 S.E.2d 808, 809 (1977). “In a criminal prosecution, where a defendant introduces no testimony, he is entitled to the final closing argument to the jury.” *State v. Mouzon*, 326 S.C. 199, 203, 485 S.E.2d 918, 921 (1997).

The defendant in a criminal case has the right to reply closing argument when he does not introduce evidence. *State v. Garlington*, 90 S.C. 138, 72 S.E. 564, 566 (1911); *State v. Brisbane*,

2 S.C.L. 451, 454 (S.C. Const. App. 1802) (in all cases in which a criminal defendant calls no witnesses, he should have the privilege of concluding to the jury).

The trial court's interpretation of *Beaty* was error. *Beaty* held that when a defendant **does** introduce evidence, the state has the final closing argument, although the trial judge can restrict the state's reply argument to matters raised by the defense in closing to ensure that a defendant's due process rights are not violated. *State v. Beaty*, 423 S.C. 26, 42-46, 813 S.E.2d 502, 510-13 (2018). However, *Beaty* left intact the common law rule that a defendant who introduces no evidence has the right to last closing argument. "Pursuant to the common law rule pronounced in *Brisbane* and as clarified in *Garlington*, **in cases in which no defendant introduces evidence, the defendant(s) have the right to open and close, but may waive the right to both or may waive opening and present full argument after the State's closing argument.**" *Id.* at 42, 813 S.E.2d at 510 (emphasis added).

After defense counsel gave what he correctly believed to be the last closing argument and argued the jury should only convict appellant of a lesser-included offense, the solicitor improperly replied by telling the jury that trafficking included "knowing possession." The trial court erred when it misapprehended *Beaty* and allowed the state a reply closing, because the defense did not put up any evidence.

The court erred in refusing to declare a mistrial after it improperly allowed the state to have last closing argument.

Standard of review

A trial judge's decision denying a mistrial will be reversed on appeal if the denial amounts to an abuse of discretion. *State v. Rowlands*, 343 S.C. 454, 458, 539 S.E.2d 717, 719 (Ct. App. 2000). "Whether a mistrial is manifestly necessary is a fact specific inquiry. It is not a mechanically applied standard, but rather is a determination that must be made in the context of the specific difficulty facing the trial judge." *Id.* at 457-58, 539 S.E.2d at 719 (internal quotations and citations omitted).

Although the decision to grant or deny a mistrial is within the sound discretion of the trial court, the appellate court must reverse the ruling if the decision was an abuse of discretion amounting to an error of law. *State v. Dial*, 405 S.C. 247, 257, 746 S.E.2d 495, 500 (Ct. App. 2013) (citing *State v. Wiley*, 387 S.C. 490, 495, 692 S.E.2d 560, 563 (Ct. App. 2010)).

Discussion

The right to last closing "argument to the jury is a substantial right, the denial of which is reversible error." *State v. Rodgers*, 269 S.C. 22, 24-25, 235 S.E.2d 808, 809 (1977). "In a criminal prosecution, where a defendant introduces no testimony, he is entitled to the final closing argument to the jury." *State v. Mouzon*, 326 S.C. 199, 203, 485 S.E.2d 918, 921 (1997).

The defendant in a criminal case has the right to reply closing argument when he does not introduce evidence. *State v. Garlington*, 90 S.C. 138, 72 S.E. 564, 566 (1911); *State v. Brisbane*, 2 S.C.L. 451, 454 (S.C. Const. App. 1802) (in all cases in which a criminal defendant calls no witnesses, he should have the privilege of concluding to the jury).

The court's interpretation of *State v. Beaty* was error. *Beaty* left intact the common law rule that a defendant who introduces no evidence has the right to last closing argument. "Pursuant to the common law rule pronounced in *Brisbane* and as clarified in *Garlington*, in cases in which no defendant introduces evidence, the defendant(s) have the right to open and close, but may waive the right to both or may waive opening and present full argument after the State's closing argument." *Id.* at 42, 813 S.E.2d at 510 (emphasis added).

After the defense gave what he correctly believed to be the last closing argument and argued the jury should only convict appellant of a lesser-included offense, the state was allowed to improperly reply, and told the jury that trafficking included "knowing possession." Defense counsel objected and moved for a mistrial. "Your Honor, we wish to object on the record that the State was given an opportunity to respond after the defense made its closing argument. It's our position that since the defense did not put up a case, the defense should have the right to close out with its arguments. We do believe this may have caused some prejudice and at this time we request a mistrial." R. 356, ll. 8-15.

Because the trial court erred in allowing the state to have last closing argument when the defense did not introduce any evidence, the court's failure to declare a mistrial was an abuse of discretion. *State v. Beaty*, 423 S.C. 26, 813 S.E.2d 502 (2018); *State v. Harris*, 340 S.C. 59, 63, 530 S.E.2d 626, 628 (2000).

The court erred when it admitted a recording of a jail phone call made by appellant where the phone call contained profanity, racial slurs, hearsay, and portrayed appellant as an habitual criminal, since the call's minimal probative value was substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice under Rule 403, SCRE.

Standard of review

“The admission of evidence is within the circuit court’s discretion and will not be reversed on appeal absent an abuse of that discretion.” *State v. Dickerson*, 395 S.C. 101, 116, 716 S.E.2d 895, 903 (2011). “A trial court has particularly wide discretion in ruling on Rule 403 objections.” *State v. Lee*, 399 S.C. 521, 527, 732 S.E.2d 225, 228 (Ct. App. 2012). *State v. Dial*, 405 S.C. 247, 260, 746 S.E.2d 495, 502 (Ct. App. 2013) (trial judge’s decision regarding the comparative probative value and prejudicial effect of relevant evidence should be reversed only in exceptional circumstances).

Discussion

The defense correctly requested the judge require the state to “pare down” the recording to the portions of the call the state believed were relevant to the elements of the charges.

In *State v. King*, 422 S.C. 47, 68-69, 810 S.E.2d 18, 29-30 (2017), the South Carolina Supreme Court found the trial judge abused his discretion when it admitted a jail call recording that was “riddled with profanity, racial slurs, and impermissible references to [the defendant’s] prior bad acts.”

Rule 403, SCRE provides: “Although relevant, evidence may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury, or by considerations of undue delay, waste of time, or needless presentation

of cumulative evidence.” “Evidence is unfairly prejudicial if it has an undue tendency to suggest a decision on an improper basis, such as an emotional one.” *State v. Cheeseboro*, 346 S.C. 526, 547, 552 S.E.2d 300, 311 (2001).

The call is filled with profanity, racial epithets, and other offensive language: “fuck,” “shit,” “nigger,” “queers.” The jury heard appellant recount a fight with an inmate at the jail in which appellant had “bitten someone’s face.” It heard appellant saying: “I need a fucking lawyer,” and expressing familiarity with the jail. The jury heard appellant say he was found with another person’s “food stamp card,” and a police officer said: “Look at this piece of shit, he’s got four hundred dollars and drugs and someone else’s food stamp card.”

The call was over fifteen minutes long. While appellant’s statement: “I had to get rid of that shit you know” was probative of his reason for failure to stop for a blue light, the limited probative value of the admitting the recording in toto was outweighed by the unfair prejudice to appellant. The state presented twenty-eight minutes of video footage from two cameras showing appellant fleeing from police. The video shows the bag of methamphetamine being thrown from the truck. Three police officers testified to the details of the chase. The foul language used in the call, and violent and criminal acts described therein that were unrelated to the case at hand had the impermissible tendency to suggest a decision on an improper basis.

Moreover, defense counsel correctly argued the statements: “They say they found one-hundred twenty grams,” and “Look at this piece of shit, he’s got four hundred dollars and drugs and someone else’s food stamp card” were hearsay because appellant was merely repeating what someone else said.

Rule 801(c), SCRE provides: “‘Hearsay’ is a statement, other than one made by the declarant while testifying at the trial or hearing, offered in evidence to prove the truth of the

matter asserted.” Rule 801(d)(2), SCRE provides in relevant part that a statement is not hearsay if the “statement is offered against a party and is . . . (B) a statement of which the party has manifested an adoption or belief in its truth” The trial court’s determination that appellant’s statements were not hearsay because he had “adopted” them was error. Appellant’s mere recitation of statements by others, without more, did not render them adopted.

The court abused its discretion when it allowed the entire, unredacted recording of the fifteen-minute phone call into evidence, since it was unfairly prejudicial and minimally probative. *State v. King*, 422 S.C. 47, 810 S.E.2d 18 (2017); Rule 403, SCRE.

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