ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

APPEAL FROM ANDERSON COUNTY
Court of General Sessions
Alexander S. Macaulay, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2017-002265

THE STATE,RESPONDENT,

v.

COLE BROOKS GRAY,APPELLANT.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

RECEIVED
FEB 19 2019
SC Court of Appeals

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

WILLIAM F. SCHUMACHER, IV
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211-1549
(803) 734-0368

DAVID R. WAGNER
Solicitor, Tenth Judicial Circuit

100 South Main St.
Anderson, SC 29624
(864) 260-4046

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

APPEAL FROM ANDERSON COUNTY
Court of General Sessions

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

ARGUMENT

I.

The trial judge properly denied Appellant's motion for a mistrial because the State's reply argument to trial counsel's closing did not violate Appellant's right to due process or otherwise prejudice him. Further, any error in allowing the State's reply was harmless given the overwhelming evidence of Appellant's guilt.

Appellant argues the trial judge erred in denying trial counsel's motion for a mistrial because the trial judge, by allowing the State to make a brief reply to Appellant's closing, committed reversible error. While the State agrees Appellant was entitled to close without a rebuttal by the State, the State disagrees with the allegation that Appellant was prejudiced by not having the final argument due to the overwhelming evidence of Appellant's guilt.

Standard of Review

Historically, the right to the final closing argument has followed the party with the burden of proof. *Stein Closing Arguments § 1:6: Right to open and close; order of argument* (2011-2012 ed.) ("Generally, the right to make opening and closing follows the person having the burden of proof."); Nicole Velasco, *Taking the "Sandwich" Off of the Menu: Should Florida Depart from Over 150 years of Its Criminal Procedure and Let Prosecutors Have the Last Word?*, 29 *Nova L.Rev.* 99, 112 (2004) ("At common law, the widely accepted rule in the United States is that the party with the burden of proof has the right to open and conclude final argument before the jury.").

In criminal trials in South Carolina, a solicitor is entitled to open and close the closing arguments to the jury unless the defendant has not offered any evidence. *State v. Rodgers*, 269 S.C. 22, 24, 235 S.E.2d 808, 809 (1977). In those situations, the "defendant(s) have the right to

open and close, but may waive the right to both or may waive opening and present full argument after the State's closing argument." State v. Beaty, 423 S.C. 26, 42, 813 S.E.2d 502, 510 (2018).

"Generally, '[i]mproper comments made during closing argument] do not automatically require reversal if they are not prejudicial to the defendant, and the appellant has the burden of proving he did not receive a fair trial because of the alleged improper argument.'" Beaty, 423 S.C. at 43–44, 813 S.E.2d at 511 (quoting Humphries v. State, 351 S.C. 362, 373, 570 S.E.2d 160, 166 (2002)). "The relevant inquiry is whether the State's comments 'so infected the trial with unfairness as to make the resulting conviction a denial of due process.'" Id. "A denial of due process occurs when a defendant in a criminal trial is denied the fundamental fairness essential to the concept of justice." State v. Hornsby, 326 S.C. 121, 129, 484 S.E.2d 869, 873 (1997).

Analysis

As explained in Beaty, Appellant was entitled to the final closing argument because he did not present any evidence at trial. See Beaty, 423 S.C. at 42, 813 S.E.2d 510. Any error in allowing the State to respond to trial counsel's closing argument is harmless given the overwhelming evidence of Appellant's guilt. Davis confirmed the vehicle Appellant drove was his stolen truck. At trial, several officers testified regarding the car chase with Appellant, including his attempt to dispose of methamphetamine. The video recording of Appellant's apprehension clearly shows him throwing the bag of drugs out the window of the stolen truck he was driving. Further, Appellant himself admitted in the recorded phone call that he was in possession of the drugs and tried to dispose of them during the chase. Lanford testified the two bags of methamphetamine weighed 3.3 and 109.34 grams, pushing Appellant over the 100 gram threshold for his trafficking charge. Accordingly, due to this overwhelming evidence of

Appellant's guilt, Appellant was not prejudiced by the trial judge's decision to allow the State a rebuttal argument. See Beaty, 423 S.C. at 43–44, 813 S.E.2d at 511.

II.

The trial judge properly admitted the recording of Appellant's phone call from jail because it was substantive evidence of Appellant's guilt; throughout the phone call, Appellant admitted his guilt for his various offenses. Further, any error in the admission of the portions of the phone call containing profanity, racial slurs, and other inappropriate comments were harmless given the overwhelming evidence of Appellant's guilt.

Appellant argues the trial judge erred in admitting the entire recording of his jail phone call because it contained hearsay, profane language, and portrayed Appellant as a "habitual criminal," and this information had minimal probative value which was substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice to Appellant. The State disagrees with these allegations of error. Initially, the State notes Appellant's allegations of hearsay are incorrect as the challenged statements regarding the amount of drugs found and the discovery of cash and the food stamp card were not admitted to prove Appellant committed any of his charged offenses. Further, the trial judge properly admitted the recording after reviewing it and determining its probative value outweighed the few instances of inappropriate language within. Finally, any error in admitting the recording is minor given the overwhelming evidence of Appellant's guilt.

Standard of Review

"The admission of evidence is within the circuit court's discretion and will not be reversed on appeal absent an abuse of that discretion." State v. Dickerson, 395 S.C. 101, 716 S.E.2d 895, 903 (2011). A trial court has particularly wide discretion in ruling on Rule 403 objections. See State v. Adams, 354 S.C. 361, 580 S.E.2d 785, 794 (Ct.App.2003) (trial judge's decision regarding the comparative probative value and prejudicial effect of evidence should be reversed only in exceptional circumstances, and the appellate court is obligated to give great deference to the trial court's Rule 403 judgment); State v. Collins, 398 S.C. 197, 727 S.E.2d 751,

754 (Ct. App. 2012). The failure to exercise discretionary authority is, itself, an abuse of discretion. State v. Smith, 276 S.C. 494, 498, 280 S.E.2d 200, 202.(1981).

“[A]lthough relevant, evidence may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice.” Rule 403, SCRE. “Probative” means “[t]ending to prove or disprove.” Black's Law Dictionary 1323 (9th ed. 2009). Probative value is the measure of the importance of that tendency to the outcome of a case. Collins, 727 S.E.2d at 754. Thus, a court analyzing probative value considers the importance of the evidence and the significance of the issues to which the evidence relates. Id.

In South Carolina, hearsay is inadmissible "except as provided by these rules or by other rules prescribed by the Supreme Court of this State or by statute." Rule 802, SCRE. Our rules of evidence define hearsay as "a statement, other than one made by the declarant while testifying at the trial or hearing, offered in evidence to prove the truth of the matter asserted." Rule 801(c), SCRE.

Even if improper hearsay evidence is admitted, any error in the admission of the hearsay evidence is subject to a harmless error analysis and only warrants reversal if it results in actual prejudice. State v. Weston, 367 S.C. 279, 288, 625 S.E.2d 641, 646 (2006). Appellate courts will generally not set aside a judgment based on insubstantial errors not affecting the result. State v. Sherard, 303 S.C. 172, 176, 399 S.E.2d 595, 597 (1991). After an error is found, the appellate court must then review the other evidence considered at trial besides the erroneously admitted evidence. State v. Baccus, 367 S.C. 41, 55, 625 S.E.2d 216, 223 (2006). Error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt if it does not contribute to the verdict. State v. Fletcher, 379 S.C. 17, 25, 664 S.E.2d 480, 484 (2008).

Analysis

Initially, the State notes Appellant's comments regarding the amount of drugs for which he was charged and his possession of a food stamp card were not hearsay. The State did not claim either statement proved any elements of its case against Appellant, and Appellant was never charged with anything relating to the food stamp card. Further, the State used other evidence at trial to prove the weight of the methamphetamine recovered, and that number was below the 120 grams mentioned by Appellant. Accordingly, because neither statement was submitted for the "truth of the matter asserted," neither statement was hearsay. See Rule 801(c), SCRE.

Appellant argues his case is similar to State v. King, 422 S.C. 47, 810 S.E.2d 18 (2017), in which the Supreme Court of South Carolina found the trial court abused its discretion in admitting a fifteen-minute recorded phone call made by the defendant used by the State to prove the defendant owned the cell phone used to contact a cab company. The recording was "riddled with profanity, facial slurs, and impermissible references to King's prior bad acts." Id. at 69, 810 S.E.2d at 30. During trial, the court refused to listen to the recording prior to publishing it to the jury, which the Supreme Court found to be a failure of exercising the trial court's discretionary authority over its admission thus rendering it unable to determine whether the probative value of the recorded call outweighed the potential for unfair prejudice. Id. at 68–69, 810 S.E.2d at 29. The Supreme Court based its decision, in part, on the fact that the State possessed other evidence—detention center call logs—which also proved King's ownership of the cell phone. Id. However, the Supreme Court found the admission of the recording was harmless error as to King's convictions for armed robbery and possession of a firearm during the commission of a

violent crime due to the overwhelming evidence of King's guilt of those charges, which included a positive identification by the victim.

Notably, Appellant's case is distinguishable from King in several important ways. Most importantly, the trial judge reviewed Appellant's recorded phone call before admitting it into evidence. Thus, the decision to admit the recording was the result of the exercise of his discretion and not the lack thereof. See Smith, 276 S.C. at 498, 280 S.E.2d at 202 (stating the failure to exercise discretionary authority is, itself, an abuse of discretion). Further, admission of the recording in King was unnecessary given the other evidence of ownership of King's cell phone, but in the instant case the recorded phone call was direct evidence of Appellant's guilt of his trafficking and failure to stop for a blue light charges. Throughout trial, counsel disputed that the drugs originated from Appellant and the stolen vehicle. Additionally, many of Appellant's "inappropriate" statements were made while he described his failure to stop for a blue light, another of his charges. Thus, Appellant's recorded call, even the parts containing profanity, was direct evidence in the State's case.

Further, while Appellant did discuss aspects of his incarceration, there was no mention of whether Appellant was previously incarcerated or had any prior convictions. Notably, Appellant claimed he was the victim of an attack and was severely injured.

Finally, similar to King, any alleged error in admitting the entire recorded phone call is entirely harmless given the overwhelming evidence of Appellant's guilt. As noted supra, there was overwhelming evidence of Appellant's guilt, including the video recording of him throwing the methamphetamine out of his stolen vehicle and his own admissions of guilt during the unchallenged portions of the recorded phone call.

Accordingly, the trial judge did not err in admitting the entire recorded phone call.

III.

Lieutenant Gebing's single, unsolicited reference to Appellant's previous arrests' was not so prejudicial as to warrant a mistrial of Appellant's case; any error in the admission of the statement was harmless given the overwhelming evidence of Appellant's guilt.

Appellant argues the trial judge erred in "allowing" Lt. Gebing to testify Appellant had previously been arrested as that statement was inadmissible bad character evidence. Initially, the State notes the trial judge did not "allow" Lt. Gebing to make the statement: he unexpectedly made the statement during his testimony due to a misinterpretation of a question posed by the State. Additionally, Appellant's complaint that the trial judge improperly admitted bad character evidence is unpreserved for appellate review because he failed to make a specific objection to the evidence at trial. Further, trial counsel's only requested remedy was a mistrial, which the trial judge properly denied due to the unimportance of the statement.

Error Preservation

Regarding the requirement that a timely objection be raised, a defendant must make a contemporaneous objection to a perceived error during trial in order to preserve the issue for further review. State v. Blalock, 357 S.C. 74, 79, 591 S.E.2d 632, 635 (Ct. App. 2003); see State v. Hoffman, 312 S.C. 386, 393, 440 S.E.2d 869, 873 (1994) ("A contemporaneous objection is required to properly preserve an error for appellate review."). Thus, when a perceived error arises, the defendant must object at the first opportunity to do so or the issue is waived. State v. Sullivan, 310 S.C. 311, 314, 426 S.E.2d 766, 768 (1993); see State v. Williams, 303 S.C. 410, 411, 401 S.E.2d 168, 169 (1991) ("A defendant must object at his first opportunity to preserve an issue for appellate review."); see also State v. King, 349 S.C. 142, 157, n.1, 561 S.E.2d 640, 647

(Ct. App. 2002) (“[N]o objection was made contemporaneously with this testimony so as to preserve the issue for review. King’s belated objection to subsequent testimony came too late.”).

Pursuant to our issue preservation requirements in South Carolina, an issue must also be raised in a sufficiently specific manner to call attention to the exact error to the trial court. State v. Johnson, 363 S.C. 53, 58, 609 S.E.2d 520, 523 (2005); see State v. Prioleau, 345 S.C. 404, 411, 548 S.E.2d 213, 216 (2001) (“[A]n objection should be sufficiently specific to bring into focus the precise nature of the alleged error so **it can be reasonably understood by the trial judge.**” (emphasis added)). Importantly, “[a] party need not use the exact name of a legal doctrine in order to preserve it[.]” State v. Dunbar, 356 S.C. 138, 142, 587 S.E.2d 691, 694 (2003). However, in order for an issue to be preserved for review, “it must be clear that the argument has been presented on that ground.” Id. Significantly, “[w]here an objection and the ground therefore is not stated in the record, there is no basis for appellate review.” State v. Morris, 307 S.C. 480, 485, 415 S.E.2d 819, 823 (Ct. App. 1991); see State v. Fleming, 254 S.C. 415, 421, 175 S.E.2d 624, 627 (1970) (“It is well settled that an issue which has not been presented to or passed upon by the trial judge will not be considered on appeal.”). “When a witness answers a question before an objection is made, the objecting party must make a motion to strike the answer to preserve the issue of that statement’s admissibility.” State v. Byers, 392 S.C. 438, 444, 710 S.E.2d 55, 58 (2011); see also State v. Saltz, 346 S.C. 114, 129, 551 S.E.2d 240, 248 (2001) (finding a motion to strike unnecessary because the objection to the hearsay testimony was overruled).

The State notes Appellant’s argument regarding the admissibility of this statement is not preserved. At trial, Appellant only provided a general objection that Lt. Gebing’s statement was “character evidence not permitted by the South Carolina Rules of Evidence,” without pointing to

any specific rule or articulating how the statement violated said rules. Without a specific objection, the trial judge was not provided a sufficient reason to rule in Appellant's favor. See Fleming, 254 S.C. at 421, 175 S.E.2d at 627. Accordingly, this issue is not proper for appellate review.

Analysis

Generally, appellate courts will not set aside convictions due to insubstantial errors not affecting the result. State v. Bryant, 369 S.C. 511, 518, 633 S.E.2d 152, 156 (2006); State v. Heller, 399 S.C. 157, 171, 731 S.E.2d 312, 320 (Ct. App. 2012). Thus, an insubstantial error not affecting the result of the trial is harmless where a defendant's guilt has been conclusively proven by competent evidence such that no other rational conclusion can be reached. Bryant at 518, 633 S.E.2d at 156. "A harmless error analysis is contextual and specific to the circumstances of the case: No definite rule of law governs a finding of harmless error; rather the materiality and prejudicial character of the error must be determined from its relationship to the entire case.

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